COURT OF APPEALS

94182-3

2017 FEB 22 PM 2: 16

No.

COA No. 48083-2-ISTATE OF WASHINGTON

18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL L. ROESCH, Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

CARL and CANDY BOHM, Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE PHILLIP K. SORENSEN, JUDGE

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER M. CONSTANTINE Of Counsel, Inc. P.S. WSBA 11650 Kenyon E. Luce, WSBA No. 3081 LUCE & ASSOCIATES, P.S. Of Attorneys for Appellant, Michael L. Roesch

P. O. Box 7125 Tacoma, WA 98417-0125 (253) 752-7850 ofcounsl1@mindspring.com

4505 Pacific Highway East, Suite A Tacoma, WA 98424 (253) 922-8724

I.

III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Michael L. Roesch, asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part IV.

IV. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner asks the Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision filed January 24, 2017, with a copy attached as Appendix 1.

V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- In an action for residential unlawful detainer based on the breach of a rental agreement, may a tenant of real property assert a matter of title in an equitable defense an issue of title to the landlord's property based on an expired purchase and sale agreement?
- 2. In an action for residential unlawful detainer based on the breach of a rental agreement, does the availability of a remedy such as quiet title in an independent proceeding preclude a tenant from asserting a matter of title in an affirmative equitable defense of an issue of title to the landlord's property in the unlawful detainer?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Federal*National Mortgage Association v. Ndiaye, 188 Wn. App. 376, 353 P. 3d

 644, 648 (2015), Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges, 92 Wn. App. 523, 526,

 963 P. 2d 944 (1998), Proctor v. Forsythe, 4 Wn. App. 238, 241, 480 P.

2d 511 (1971) and *Sundholm v. Patch*, 62 Wn. 2d 244, 382 P. 2d 262 (1963)?

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's award of attorney fees to respondents?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals err in awarding attorney fees to respondents?
 - 6. Is petitioner entitled to attorney fees on appeal?

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Michael L. Roesch, is the owner of the real property located at 14712 72nd Street East, Sumner, Washington. ¹

In October, 2008, Petitioner and Respondents executed a lease of Petitioner's real property.² The lease term commenced November 1, 2008 and terminated on October 15, 2010.³ In paragraph 4 of the lease, Respondents agreed to pay Petitioner monthly rent in the amount of \$802.75.⁴

Respondents entered into possession of Petitioner's property in November, 2009.⁵ Respondents failed to pay the rent due under the lease, and on March 5, 2015, Petitioner served Respondents with a three-day

CP I

² CP 2, 6, 7, 8.

³ CP 6

⁴ CP 6.

⁵ VRP III p. 404 line 1.

notice to terminate tenancy, alleging delinquent rent for the months of October 2012 to February, 2015, in the amount of \$22,447.00, late fees for that period totaling \$2,247.56, and attorney fees of \$5,381.10, for a total of \$30, 105.66.⁶ Respondents did not thereafter either vacate the property or pay the sums set forth in the three-day notice.⁷

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Petitioner filed a complaint for unlawful detainer in this action on April 1, 2015.⁸ Petitioner filed a summons and an amended summons.⁹ Petitioner served Respondent Candy Bohm with summons and complaint.¹⁰ Respondents filed an answer.¹¹ Petitioner filed a motion for order to show cause why a writ of restitution should not issue.¹² Respondents filed an amended answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaims.¹³

Respondent Candy Bohm filed a motion in opposition to Appellant's motion for order to show cause. ¹⁴ Respondents' counsel filed a declaration that attached excerpts of several of the purchase and sale

⁶ CP 2, 10, 11, 12.

⁷ CP 2.

⁸ CP 1-12.

⁹ CP 13-14, 16-17.

¹⁰ CP 81

¹¹ CP 21-24.

¹² CP 29-31.

¹³ CP 35-44.

¹⁴ CP 45-48.

agreements and addenda mentioned in Respondents' counterclaim. 15 Subsequently, Respondent Candy Bohm filed a supplemental declaration that attached the purchase and sale agreements and related addenda mentioned in Respondents' counterclaim. 16 Respondent Candy Bohm's mother, Geraldine Rudolph filed a declaration in opposition to Petitioner's motion for writ of restitution.¹⁷ Mrs. Rudolph's declaration also attached documents referenced in Respondent's counterclaim. 18

Petitioner's motion for order to show cause was heard on June 24, 2015.¹⁹ The commissioner found credibility issues were present.²⁰ The commissioner ruled that he did not have jurisdiction to consider Respondents' counterclaims and therefore denied Petitioner's motion.²¹ The commissioner also found possession was undetermined at that point.²² The commissioner ordered the parties to proceed to trial on the issue of possession.²³ Respondents filed a jury demand.²⁴

On July 7, 2015, Petitioner filed a motion for partial summary judgment to dismiss Respondents' counterclaims for lack of subject matter

¹⁵ CP 49-76.

¹⁶ CP 110-179.

¹⁷ CP 180-211.

¹⁸ Ibid.

¹⁹ VRP 062415, p. 1-14.

²⁰ *Ibid*, p. 8.

²¹ *Id.*, p. 11. ²² *Id.*, p. 12; CP 273. ²³ CP 273.

²⁴ CP 275-76

jurisdiction and because third party claims are not permitted in a residential unlawful detainer.²⁵

Respondents filed a motion to intervene and for joinder of parties and claims. 26 Therein, Respondents sought an order allowing Respondent Candy Bohm's mother, Geraldine Rudolph, to intervene as a party defendant and third party plaintiff, and to add Fred Roesch as a third party defendant.²⁷ On July 17, 2015, the trial court denied Respondent's motion to intervene and ordered the hearing on Petitioner's motion for partial summary judgment to be heard on the first day of trial, August 17, 2015.²⁸

Petitioner filed his ER 904 disclosures which consisted of the following four documents: the declaration of Respondent Candy Bohm in support of motion and declaration for temporary orders in Pierce County Cause No. 13-3-00880-6, the strict reply declaration of Candy Bohm in Pierce County Cause No. 13-3-00880-6, the November 1, 2008 rental agreement for the property at 14712 72nd St. E., in Sumner between Appellant and Respondents, and the letter to Fred Roesch from Candy Bohm re improvement as subject rental property.²⁹

²⁵ CP 280-92. ²⁶ CP 320-23.

²⁹ *Ibid*.

Respondents filed their ER 904 disclosures on July 22, 2015.³⁰ Respondents listed 29 documents.³¹ Included therein were expired purchase and sale agreements and addenda for 14712 72nd St. E., Sumner, expired purchase and sale agreements and addenda for 16220 and 16224 E. 60th E., Sumner, HUD settlement statements for the close of sale of 16224 60th E. in April 2009, a copy of a cashier's check for \$258,389.43, dated April 22, 2009, from Hillard Rudolph to Fred Roesch, a draft of a real estate contract for the property at 16224 E. 60th St. E. from Respondents to Fred Roesch, a reverse mortgage statement to the Rudolphs for 16224 E, copies of checks from Respondent Candy Bohm to Fred Roesch, and a commission disbursement form dated April 10, 2009 for Appellant's realtor, John Troupe.³²

Petitioner filed objections to Respondents' ER 904 disclosures.³³ Petitioner objected to 28 of 29 of Respondents' proposed exhibits on the ground of lack of subject matter jurisdiction."³⁴ Petitioner filed his motion in limine.³⁵

³⁰ CP 421-25.

³¹ *Ibid*.

³² *Id*.

³³ CP 426-435.

³⁴ Ibid.

³⁵ CP 463-484.

Petitioner's motion for summary judgment was heard on August 17, 2015, the morning of trial.³⁶ The court dismissed Respondents' counterclaims.³⁷

The court inquired whether Respondents would be willing to decline to offer some of their exhibits.³⁸ In response thereto, Respondents identified Exhibits 6, 7, 9, 13, 14, 16, 17, 28, 29, 30, 36, 37, and 38 as those they intended to rely upon at trial.³⁹ The court reserved ruling on Petitioner's objection to Respondents' exhibits.⁴⁰ The court announced it would allow some of Respondents' exhibits to "allow for a framework to be established."⁴¹ The court concluded that would require consideration of some RESPAs. "I think that means you are going to be stuck with some Purchase and Sale Agreements...."⁴²

Petitioner argued that any consideration of the properties other than 14712 72nd St. E. would exceed the court's jurisdiction.⁴³ Petitioner also argued consideration of the other transactions would contradict the

³⁶ VRP I, p. 23-84.

³⁷ VRP I, p. 82-84; CP 598-600.

³⁸ VRP

³⁹ VRP I, p. 84-85.

⁴⁰ VRP 1, p. 86.

⁴¹ VRP 1, p. 92.

⁴² VRP I, p. 93.

⁴³ VRP I, p. 76.

court's order on summary judgment and would present a real danger of confusing the jury.⁴⁴

The court voiced its opinion that the actions of Fred Roesch outside of the lease in question were irrelevant. "...We are dealing with Michael Roesch and a lease agreement that he had with Bohm, and so whatever Fred Roesch did outside of that agreement it seems to me to be irrelevant..."

Trial in this action commenced on August 18, 2015.⁴⁶ Petitioner renewed at trial his objections to Respondents' Exhibits 7, 10, 13, 14, 16, 17, 29, 37, 38, 53, 59, and 60.⁴⁷

Petitioner objected to the inclusion in the court's instructions to the jury of any reference to the October 15, 2008 RESPA in Respondents' proposed Instruction 19, due to the limitations on the court's jurisdiction in unlawful detainers. The court overruled Petitioner's objection and included in the court's Instruction 2 paragraphs 2 and 3 of Respondents' proposed Instruction 19.49

⁴⁴ VRP I. p. 90.

⁴⁵ VRP I, p. 107.

⁴⁶ VRP II, p. 137

⁴⁷ VRP II, p. 186 (EX7), VRP II, p. 223 (EX 10), VRP II, p. 201, (EX 13), VRP II p. 204 (EX 14), VRP II p. 206 (EX 16), VRP II p. 207 (EX 17), VRP III, p. 402-03 (EX 29), VRP II p. 215 (EX 37), VRP II p. 218 (EX 38), VRP III, p. 411 (EX 53), VRP II p. 290 (EX 59), VRP III, p. 334-35 (EX 60).

⁴⁸ VRP IV, p. 476.

⁴⁹ VRP IV, p. 477; CP 970.

The court agreed to give as its Instruction No. 11 Petitioner's proposed Instruction 10 (cited).⁵⁰ The court modified Petitioner's proposed instruction by including language regarding Fred Roesch's alleged obligation to pay off the mortgage on the 14712 72nd St. E. property and provide for Petitioner to transfer title to that property to Respondents.⁵¹

The trial court sent the case to the jury with a special verdict form.⁵² On August 21, 2015, the jury returned the verdict with a "yes" answer to the following question: "Are Defendants Carl and Candy Bohm excused from making rental payments on the Lease?⁵³

Respondents filed a motion for award of attorney fees and costs.⁵⁴

On August 28, 2015, the court entered an Order on Jury Verdict.⁵⁵ Therein, the court dismissed Petitioner's claims in this case against Respondents.⁵⁶

On September 11, 2015, the court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law Re: Attorney Fees and a Judgment on Attorney Fees

⁵⁰ VRP IV, p. 486.

⁵¹ CP 979-80.

⁵² VRP IV, p. 546-47; CP 989-91.

⁵³ VRP IV, p. 551; CP 989.

⁵⁴ CP 1000-05.

⁵⁵ CP 1055-56.

⁵⁶ CP 1056.

and Costs.⁵⁷ Therein, the court awarded Respondents attorney fees of \$41, 148.00, and costs of \$1,010.53.⁵⁸

Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal.⁵⁹ Petitioner's appeal was heard on December 9, 2016 by a panel of Division II of the Court of Appeals. On January 24, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision affirming the judgment of the trial court.⁶⁰

VII. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION MERITS REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4 (b) (4).

RAP 13.4 (b) (4) provides: "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only... [i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Petitioner presents an issue of substantial public importance, whether, in an action for residential unlawful detainer, may a tenant assert an equitable defense of a claim to the title of the landlord's property.

This issue requires an understanding of the limited nature of a residential unlawful detainer and the limitations imposed by the courts upon the nature of the issues that may be considered in such an action. "Unlawful detainer actions under RCW 59.18 are special statutory

⁵⁷ CP 1093-97; CP 1098-99.

⁵⁸ CP 1098.

⁵⁹ CP 1217-1218.

⁶⁰ Unpublished Opinion in Case No. 48083-2-II; App. 1.

proceedings with the limited purpose of hastening recovery of possession of rental property, and the superior court's jurisdiction in such action is limited to the primary issue of the right of possession, plus incidental issues such as restitution and rent, or damages." Phillips v. Hardwick, 29 Wn. App. 382, 285-86, 628 P. 2d 506 (1981).

As it is a limited remedy, the scope of issues that may be raised in an unlawful detainer is limited to those authorized by the statute. *Granat v. Keasler*, 99 Wn. 2d 564, 570-71, 663 P. 2d 830 (1983). The court does not sit as a court of general jurisdiction with the power to hear and determine other issues. *Ibid*.

Washington courts do not consider an unlawful detainer as a proper forum in which to litigate issues of title. *Federal National Mortgage Association v. Ndiaye*, 188 Wn. App. 376, 353 P. 3d 644, 648 (2015); *Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges*, 92 Wn. App. 523, 526, 963 P. 2d 944 (1998); *Proctor v. Forsythe*, 4 Wn. App. 238, 241, 480 P. 2d 511 (1971); *Sundholm v. Patch*, 62 Wn. 2d 244, 382 P. 2d 262 (1963).

The Court of Appeals recognized the rule against litigating claims of title in an unlawful detainer.⁶¹ Nevertheless, the court followed *Snuffin* v. Mayo, 6 Wn. App. 525, 494 P. 2d 497 (1972) to allow Respondent to argue their claim of title to Petitioner's real property as an affirmative

⁶¹ Unpublished Opinion at 9; App. 1.

equitable defense. 62 "Thus, a trial court may still consider a defendant's affirmative equitable defense even if that defense overlaps somewhat with title-related issues.",63

The Court of Appeals misplaced reliance upon Snuffin v. Mayo. In Snuffin, after discussing the trial court's lack of authority to quiet title as between the parties, and after discussing the tenant's right to assert an equitable defense based upon a constructive trust, the appellate court nevertheless concluded the action should be dismissed, as the lessor failed to give timely notice of termination of the agricultural tenancy in accordance with RCW 59.12.035. The appellate court therefore concluded in light of that failure and the court's very limited jurisdiction in unlawful detainer actions, the case must be dismissed. 6 Wn. App. 529-30.

Because the decision in Snuffin was based upon lack of jurisdiction, the court's discussion of equitable defenses and constructive trust is obiter dictum and need not be followed. Grundy v. Thurston County, 155 Wn. 2d 1, 9-10, 117 P. 3d 1089 (2005). In this case, the Court of Appeals failed to identify any other authority supporting litigation of title issues in an unlawful detainer.

Balanced against Snuffin's meager precedential value are clear statements rejecting litigation of title issues in unlawful detainer actions in

⁶² *Ibid.*, at 12. ⁶³ *Id.*

Federal National Mortgage Association v. Ndiaye, Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges, Proctor v. Forsythe, and Sundholm v. Patch. In Ndiaye, the appellate court affirmed summary judgment for the lender's nominee in a post-foreclosure unlawful detainer. The court concluded unlawful detainer actions are not the proper forum to litigate questions of title. 188 Wn. App. 384. The court also recognized to allow post-foreclosure litigation of title questions would defeat the spirit and intent of the deed of trust act. 188 Wn. App. 383. An unlawful detainer action is no more a proper forum to litigate questions of title in this case than it was in Ndiaye. As in Ndiaye, allowing Respondents to litigate questions of title will defeat the spirit and intent of the Residential Landlord Tenant Act. As in Ndiaye, the Respondents' failure to exercise another available remedy, quiet title, precludes consideration of Respondents' title issue in this case.

Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges, and Proctor v. Forsythe compel the same conclusion an unlawful detainer is not a proper forum to litigate questions of title. In Puget Sound Inv. Grp., the plaintiff was a purchaser at a sale of the property following foreclosure of a federal tax lien. The plaintiff sought to evict the former owner in an unlawful detainer action brought under RCW 59.12.030 (6). In affirming dismissal of the unlawful detainer action, the Court of Appeals concluded unlawful detainer actions do not provide a forum for litigating claims to title. 92 Wn. App. 526.

In *Proctor v. Forsythe*, the Court of Appeals affirmed only that portion of the trial court's judgment in an unlawful detainer that determined the defendant, who had been in a meretricious relationship with the plaintiff, was not unlawfully in possession as against the claim of the plaintiff. The court concluded it was unable to consider either party's claim to title to the property, and could only address who was entitled to possession. 4 Wn. App. 241.

In Sundholm v. Patch, that portion of the trial court's unlawful detainer judgment granting the tenant's counterclaim for specific performance of an alleged contract for the sale of the property was dismissed on appeal. The court concluded Washington's unlawful detainer statutes did not give the trial court the power to order specific performance of the contract. 62 Wn. 2d 245-46.

The Court of Appeals made only a passing reference to the rule prohibiting litigation of title issues in unlawful detainer.⁶⁴ Instead, the Court of Appeals relied upon RCW 59.18.380.65 The Court of Appeals made no attempt to reconcile that statute with the Washington decisions that prohibit litigating issues of title in unlawful detainer. The Legislature is presumed to know existing case law in areas in which it is legislating and, thus, common law may be considered in ascertaining proper scope of

⁶⁴ Unpublished Opinion at 9; App. 1.⁶⁵ *Ibid.*

statute. *In Re King County Foreclosure of Liens for Delinquent Property Taxes for Years 1985 through 1988*, 117 Wn. 2d 77, 86, 811 P. 2d 945 (1991). Thus, RCW 59.18.380 should be interpreted in light of the Washington decisions that prohibit litigating issues of title in unlawful detainer.

In interpreting RCW 59.18.380's requirement that an equitable defense "arise out of" the tenancy, the Court of Appeals instead opted to rely upon *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn. 2d 39, 45, 711 P. 2d 295 (1985), *Josephinium Assocs. v. Kahli*, 111 Wn. App. 617, 45 P. 3d 627 (2002), *Heaverlo v. Keico Indus., Inc.*, 80 Wn. App. 724, 911 P. 2d 406 (1996), and *Port of Longview v. International Raw Materials, Inc.*, 96 Wn. App. 431, 979 P. 2d 917 (1999). Unlike this case, neither *Munden*, nor *Josephinium Assocs.*, nor *Heaverlo*, nor *Port of Longview* involved any issue of title.

Munden does not support Respondents' cause. In Munden, the court offered as examples of affirmative equitable defenses that are "based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach" a breach of implied warranty of habitability and a breach of covenant of quiet enjoyment. 105 Wn. 2d 45. Nothing in Munden remotely supports recognition of an equitable defense of failure to convey title.

⁶⁶ Unpublished Opinion at 9-10; App. 1.

The range of defenses allowed under *Munden* continues to be construed narrowly. *Angelo Property Co., LP v. Hafiz*, 167 Wn. App. 789, 811-16, 274 P. 3d 1075, *review denied*, 175 Wn. 2d 1012, 287 P.3d 594 (2012).

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