RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/24/2017 2:43 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94182-3

Court of Appeals No. 48083-2-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL L. ROESCH,

Petitioner

v.

CARL and CANDY BOHM,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Klaus O. Snyder, WSBA No. 16195 Attorney for Respondents 15306 Main Street E., Suite B Sumner, Washington 98390-2640

Ph: 253.863.2889 Fax: 253.863.1483

Klaus.Snyder@SumnerLawCenter.com

C.	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE			
D.	ANS	WER		
	1.	The "issue of substantial public importance" described by Mr. Roesch does not exist in this case		
	2.	The Court of Appeals correctly and properly relied on RCW 59.18.380 and the cited cases construing the statute		
	3.	The Court of Appeals neither "recognized" nor "created" a "post-REPSA" agreement or contract for the parties.		
	4.	Because the Court of Appeal's Unpublished Decision does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court, review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not appropriate		
	5.	Because the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision does not conflict with any decisions of the Court of Appeals, review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not appropriate		
	6.	The issue of title is now being litigated in the Pierce County Superior Court		
	7.	No errors were made by the trial court or the Court of Appeals in awarding attorney's fees13		
	8.	Mr. Roesch's Petition is frivolous because it is		

		factually and legally baseless16	
	9.	In the event this Court denies review, the Bohms request an award of the expenses and reasonable attorney's fees they incurred in answering the Petition	
E. CONCLUSION1		CLUSION17	
F.	APPE	NDIX	
Exhibit A – Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summar Judgment (Order Converting Action) (entered 7.			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Washington Cases
City of West Richland v. Department of Ecology, 124 Wn. App. 683, 103 P.3d 818 (2004)
Concerned Citizens v. Coupeville, 62 Wash.App. 408, 814 P.2d 243, review denied, 118 Wash.2d 1004, 822 P.2d 288 (1991)3
Federal Nat. Mortg. Ass'n v. Ndiaye, 188 Wn. App. 376, 353 p.3d 644 (2015)
Heaverlo v. Keico Indus., Inc., 80 Wn.App. 724, 91 P.2d 406 (1996)
Josephinium Assocs. V. Kahli, 111 Wn. App. 617, 45 P.3d 627 (2002)
Marine Power Equipment Co. v. Washington State Human Rights Com'n Hearing Tribunal, 39 Wn.App. 609, 694 P.2d 697 (1985)5
Munden v. Hazelrigg, 105 Wn.2d 39, 711 P.2d 295 (1985)7
Port of Longview v. Int'l Raw Materials, Ltd., 96 Wn. App. 431, 979 P.2d 917 (1999)7
Proctor v. Forsythe, 4 Wn. App. 238, 480 P.2d 511 (1971)1, 11, 12
Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges, 92 Wn. App. 523, 963 P.2d 944 (1998)
Snuffin v. Mayo, 6 Wn. App. 525, 494 P.2d 497 (1972)3, 4
State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 969 P.2d 64 (1998)
State v. Hopkins, 137 Wn. App. 441, 154 P.3d 250 (2007)5

State v. Potter, 68 Wn. App. 134, 842 P.2d 481 (1992)	
Sundholm v. Patch, 62 Wn.2d 244, 382 P.2d 262 (1963)1, 8,	, 9
Other Authorities	
RAP 13.41	
RAP 18.116	į
BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (7 th ed., 1997)5	

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

The Respondents in this proceeding are Carl and Candy Bohm.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Michael Roesch seeks review of the Court of Appeals Unpublished Decision filed on January 24, 2017. Petitioner Roesch asserts that review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (conflict with a Supreme Court decision), (2) (conflict with a Court of Appeals decision), and (4) (existence of an issue of substantial public interest that requires review by this Court).

Mr. Roesch argues that the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court "is in conflict with *Federal National Mortgage Association v*. *Ndiaye*, ¹ *Puget Sound Inv. Grp. v. Bridges*, ² *Proctor v. Forsythe*, ³ and *Sundholm v. Patch* ⁴ because the Court of Appeals "recogniz[ed] an affirmative equitable defense of failure to transfer title in an unlawful detainer[.]"

Mr. Roesch also argues that "whether, in an action for residential unlawful detainer, ... a tenant [may] assert an equitable defense of a claim to the title of the landlord's property" is "an issue of substantial public

¹ 188 Wn. App. 376, 353 P.3d 644 (2015).

² 92 Wn. App. 523, 963 P.2d 944 (1998).

³ 4 Wn. App. 238, 480 P.2d 511 (1971).

⁴ 62 Wn.2d 244, 382 P.2d 262 (1963).

⁵ Petition for Review, pages 1-2, 17.

importance" that requires review by this Court.6

Finally, Mr. Roesch argues that the Court of Appeals "erred in affirming the trial court's award of attorney fees to respondents and in awarding attorney fees on appeal to respondents."

C. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents adopt and incorporate the Facts set out by the Court of Appeals in its January 24, 2017 Opinion, including Sections I through VII therein.

D. ANSWER

Because all of Mr. Roesch's arguments why review should be accepted are based on his mischaracterization of the Bohm's affirmative defense as "failure to transfer title," review should be denied.

1. The "issue of substantial public importance" described by Mr. Roesch does not exist in this case.

Mr. Roesch identifies the issue of whether a tenant may "assert an equitable defense of a claim to the title of the landlord's property" in a residential unlawful detainer action as the issue of "substantial public importance" that requires this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' decision. Long-established Washington law is clear: "[u]nlawful

⁷ Petition for Review, page 19.

2

⁶ Petition for Review, page 10.

detainer actions . . . do not provide a forum for litigating claims to title." This "issue" is fabricated from Mr. Roesch's mischaracterization of the Bohm's defense to his claim of unlawful detainer, which is correctly described by the Court of Appeals at page 11 of its unpublished decision:

The Bohms' defense was that Fred's breach of his obligations under the overall agreement excused them from their obligations to Fred. . . .

The Bohms' defense, if believed, established that they had a legal justification for nonpayment. . . . This defense "aris[es] out of the tenancy" because it was based upon facts that excused the Bohms' breach, and therefore the trial court was required to consider it. RCW 59.18.380; *Josephinium Assocs.*, 11 Wn. App. at 625.

Mr. Roesch acknowledges that the Court of Appeals "recognized the rule against litigating claims of title in an unlawful detainer," but complains that the Court of Appeals relied upon "obiter dictum" in *Snuffin v. Mayo* ¹⁰ to reach its decision. "Statements in a case that do not relate to an issue before the court and are unnecessary to decide the case constitute orbiter dictum, and need not be followed." ¹¹

In Snuffin, the discussion of a constructive trust was directly

⁸ Federal Nat. Mortg. Ass'n v. Ndiaye, 188 Wn. App. 376, 382, 353 p.3d 644 (2015) citing Puget Sound Inv. Grp., Inc. v. Bridges, 92 Wash.App. 523, 526, 963 P.2d 944 (1998).

⁹ Petition for Review, page 11 (citing Unpublished Opinion at page 9). ¹⁰ 6 Wn. App. 525, 494 P.2d 497 (1972).

¹¹ State v. Potter, 68 Wn. App. 134, fn7, 842 P.2d 481 (1992) (citing Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wash.2d 203, 207, 691 P.2d 957 (1984); Concerned Citizens v. Coupeville, 62 Wash.App. 408, 416, 814 P.2d 243, review denied, 118 Wash.2d 1004, 822 P.2d 288 (1991).

related to an issue before that court: "[a] considerable part of the trial involved the issue of whether or not Lorentsen held the 10 acres in a constructive trust for Mayo[.]" The Snuffins claimed that even if there were a constructive trust, they were protected as bona fide purchasers of the land, and rulings on evidentiary matters were based on that premise that the Snuffins were bona fide purchasers. The Court of Appeals disagreed with that premise, and wrote that the trial court had "no authority to quiet title" in the unlawful detainer action. The Court of Appeals instructed:

It was proper, however, to hear the issue of constructive trust. Even though offsets or counterclaims cannot be asserted in an unlawful detainer action, equitable defenses can be raised. *Motoda v. Donohoe*, 1 Wash.App. 174, 459 P.2d 654 (1969); *Himpel v. Lindgren*, 159 Wash. 20, 291 P. 1085 (1930). A constructive trust is clearly an equitable defense and as Snuffins' rights derived from those of Lorentsen, the resolution of that issue was necessary to a determination of right to possession.¹⁴

This discussion "of equitable defenses and constructive trust" by the *Snuffin* court is not "obiter dictum" because the issue of constructive trust was before the *Snuffin* court. Even if Mr. Roesch were correct that the Court of Appeals relied on "obiter dictum" from the *Snuffin* case, it was not error to do so. First, the so-called obiter dictum is supported by

¹² Snuffin, 6 Wn. App. at 527, 494 P.2d. 497

¹³ Id

¹⁴ *Id.* at 527 - 528, 530, 494 P.2d 497 (emphasis added).

five other cases and two statutes.¹⁵ The so-called obiter dictum is essentially a summary of Washington law. Second, while not binding, obiter dictum "may be considered persuasive" and may be "instructive."

Finally, Mr. Roesch asserts that "the Court of Appeals failed to identify any other authority supporting litigation of title issues in an unlawful detainer." However, *Snuffin* was not cited by the Court of Appeals for the proposition that "litigation of title issues in an unlawful detainer" is permissible. In fact, Mr. Roesch acknowledges that the Court of Appeals "recognized the rule against litigating claims of title in an unlawful detainer." The Court of Appeals also disagreed with Mr. Roesch's argument that the trial court "allowed the Bohms to litigate the Roesch property's title despite having dismissed their counterclaims." ¹⁸

The record of proceedings in this case confirms that the Court of Appeals correctly identified the Bohms' defense. At the September 25, 2015 hearing on Mr. Roesch's Motion for New Trial or Reconsideration, the following exchange took place:

MR. CONSTANTINE: . . . The evidence that was introduced involved purchase and sale agreements that

¹⁵ *Id*.

¹⁶ BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (7th ed., 1997), page 1100. See also City of West Richland v. Department of Ecology, 124 Wn. App. 683, 693, 103 P.3d 818 (2004); State v. Hopkins, 137 Wn. App. 441, 457, 154 P.3d 250 (2007); Marine Power Equipment Co. v. Washington State Human Rights Com'n Hearing Tribunal, 39 Wn.App. 609, 694 P.2d 697 (1985).

¹⁷ Petition for Review, page 12.

¹⁸ Unpublished Decision, page 11.

were more than six years old; purchase and sale agreements that had terminated; purchase and sale agreements where the conditions precedent had not been met¹⁹ --

THE COURT: Purchase and sale agreements that provided the basis for your lease to be in existence in the first place. Purchase and sale agreements that provided a basis for why Candy Bohm intended to be in that home, as opposed to her own home. Purchase and sale agreements that provided Candy Bohm with some rationale for why she should pay her rent up to a certain point. Purchase and sale agreements that provided a basis for why Candy Bohm behaved in the way that she did behave. Purchase and sale agreements that gave the jury a basis, or not, for determining whether or not there was a reason to excuse Candy Bohm from making payment under the lease.²⁰

The record in this case is clear that the issue of title was not "litigated." As the Court of Appeals noted, "the jury's verdict shows that the unlawful detainer action resolved only one matter: whether the Bohms were 'excused from making rental payments on the [1]ease.'"

Mr. Roesch bases his request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) upon a fabricated, nonexistent "issue." He mischaracterizes the Bohms' defense and ignores the fact that title to the subject property was **not** litigated in the context of Mr. Roesch's unlawful detainer action. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should be denied.

¹⁹ It should be noted that Mr. Roesch did not object to admission of Defendants' Ex. 9 at trial, which included the October 2008 REPSA and the "lease" agreements appended thereto. 8/18/15 VRP at 145, lines 4-9.

 $^{^{20}}$ 9/25/15 Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings, page 4, lines 7-23 (emphasis added). See also CP 989-991.

²¹ Unpublished Decision, page 13.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly and properly relied on RCW 59.18.380 and the cited cases construing the statute.

Quoting RCW 59.18.380, the Court of Appeals wrote, "The defendant in an unlawful detainer action may 'assert any legal or equitable defense or set-off arising out of the tenancy." The Court then cited *Josephinium Assocs. V. Kahli*, ²³ *Heaverlo v. Keico Indus., Inc.*, ²⁴ *Port of Longview v. Int'l Raw Materials, Ltd.*, ²⁵ and *Munden v. Hazelrigg* ²⁶ to define the limited subject matter jurisdiction in an unlawful detainer action and the meaning of "arising out of a tenancy" under the statute. ²⁷

Mr. Roesch faults the Court of Appeals for citing the four cases set out above because "unlike this case," none of the cited cases "involved any issue of title." The Court of Appeals made no error: this case doesn't involve "any issue of title," either. Because Mr. Roesch mischaracterizes the defense raised by the Bohms as "failure to convey title," his arguments fail.

3. The Court of Appeals neither "recognized" nor "created" a "post-REPSA" agreement or contract for the parties.

The "agreement" or "contract" discussed by the Court of Appeals

²² Unpublished Decision, page 9.

²³ 111 Wn. App. 617, 45 P.3d 627 (2002).

²⁴ 80 Wn.App. 724, 91 P.2d 406 (1996).

²⁵ 96 Wn. App. 431, 979 P.2d 917 (1999).

²⁶ 105 Wn.2d 39, 711 P.2d 295 (1985).

²⁷ Unpublished Decision, pages 9-10.

²⁸ Petition for Review, page 15.

on pages 16-17 of its Unpublished Decision is not "post-REPSA," as asserted by Mr. Roesch at pages 17-18 of his Petition. Instead, the Court of Appeals described the evidence submitted at trial (Bohms' testimony and two REPSAs) that constituted "competent and substantial evidence of the parties' **overall** agreement[.]" The "overall agreement" for the complex "land swap" between the parties is described in documents filed by the Bohms during the summary judgment proceedings below.³⁰

4. <u>Because the Court of Appeal's Unpublished Decision does</u> not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court, review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not appropriate.

Insisting against all evidence in the record that the Court of Appeals "recogniz[ed] an affirmative equitable defense of failure to transfer title in an unlawful detainer," Mr. Roesch asserts that the Unpublished Decision conflicts with *Sundholm v. Patch*³¹.

In *Sundholm*, the trial court dismissed an unlawful detainer action in which the defendants filed a cross-complaint for specific performance of an oral contract, asserting they were not tenants, but vendees.³²

However, the trial court granted the defendant's request for specific performance of the oral contract.³³ This Court affirmed dismissal of the

²⁹ Unpublished Decision, page 17

³⁰ CP 443-454; 110-179; CP 180-211.

³¹ 62 Wn.2d 244, 382 P.2d 262.

³² *Id.* at 244-245, 382 P.2d 262.

³³ *Id.* at 245, 382 P.2d 262.

unlawful detainer action and the award of costs to the defendant, but reversed the grant of specific performance, noting, "[i]n an unlawful detainer action, the court sits as a special statutory tribunal to summarily decide the issues authorized by statute and not as a court of general jurisdiction with the power to hear and determine other issues."³⁴

The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision does not conflict with *Sundholm* because it does not hold that the unlawful detainer statutes give the trial court the power to order specific performance of a contract. In fact, the Court of Appeals wrote, "the parties in an unlawful detainer action may not litigate claims to title." There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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